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There is such a thing as a moral atmosphere.
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PART ONE


REVELATION







Everything begins in mysticism and ends in politics.



CHARLES PÉGUY

























I


Now





Wednesday 7 April 1926


A glance. Duration, one, possibly two, seconds. In particle physics, an eternity. In history, the briefest of encounters, an infinitesimally small exchange. Two arms are raised, Benito Mussolini’s in the Fascist salute, Violet Gibson’s in the levelling of a pistol. The distance separating these two people, who have never met, is approximately eight inches. Close enough to breathe each other’s breath. Murder can be a very intimate business.


Violet, daughter of a peer, looks like a pauper. She is wearing a black dress, shiny with wear; her grey-white hair is pinned up in an erratic bundle with straggles that have fallen loose, she is very thin. Mussolini, son of a blacksmith, is dressed like a stockbroker. Butterfly collar, black tie, spats, overcoat with velvet-trimmed collar – clothes picked out that morning by his Jewish mistress, who has spent the night with him. He hasn’t slept very well, on account of a suspected stomach ulcer that causes him frequent discomfort. (Away from the crowds, it has become an everyday reflex for him to loosen his trousers and knead his stomach with his hands.) Violet, who has been preparing to kill Mussolini for some time now, hasn’t slept well either, because she too suffers from stomach pains.


Until she raises the pistol and points it at Mussolini’s face, it’s been a normal Fascist morning. At eight o’clock Quinto Navarra, Mussolini’s valet, arrived at his apartment in the Palazzo Tittoni on via Rasella. Shortly after, they got into a black Lancia, and were driven to Mussolini’s office at Palazzo Chigi. His Excellency the Prime Minister Benito Mussolini, Il Duce, sat behind his desk, receiving his proconsuls and listening to their petitions. His staff and security services have been fine-tuning his schedule, issuing detailed orders for its flawless execution. The chief of police has just completed Security Order number 08473, detailing policing arrangements for the following day. Carbon copies of these security orders are despatched daily to those responsible for public order, including the heads of the Military and Political Police, the Interior Ministry and the royal protection squad. The chief of police has to cope with a poorly trained force that has no efficient telephone system, an almost complete lack of motor transport, and cramped and unhygienic local police stations. In a few hours, he will have to revise the order substantially. But, for the moment, everything is running as it should in the new Roman imperium.


Violet, in the meantime, is making her way from via Nomentana, a broad avenue of villas and apartments extending across what had been, until recently, a rural hinterland of Rome. Does she walk? Does she take the tram? Violet has no staff to draw up and attend to the minutiae of her schedule, which is probably just as well, for if the past were available to us in all its detail it would overwhelm the present. As the nuns at the convent where she is lodging will later testify, Violet rose at six, and appeared, veiled, for Mass in the convent chapel. She went out after breakfast, at 8.30 a.m. She was a little agitated, ‘as if she was trying to control some inner emotion’. Asked if she would be back for lunch, she answered yes, with ‘a half-smile’. Sister Riccarda was concerned. In the night, she had taken Violet some medicine for her stomach pains. The nun noticed that she had been reading an Italian newspaper, and had marked up some passages. ‘I didn’t realise that tomorrow I would have to be out for such a long time,’ Violet said, her meaning, as always, elusive. As she sets out from the convent, she is unaware that the Mother Superior, Mary Elizabeth Hesselblad, is watching her closely from a window.


Violet passes through Porta Pia, Michelangelo’s great travertine portal, and heads towards the church of Santa Susanna. Here, three days ago, on Easter Sunday, she attended Mass, seated beneath florid frescoes depicting the martyrdom of Susanna, the third-century saint who had consecrated her virginity to Christ. Violet, though not a virgin, is ready to embrace her own martyrdom, because God has willed it so. In her right hand, which is tucked into a pocket, she carries a Lebel revolver, the standard-issue weapon of the French military, capable of firing six 8mm rounds loaded into a swing-out chamber. She has wrapped it in her black veil. In her room at the convent, where she has been practising with the empty revolver, gripping it with both hands for a steady aim, she has a box of twenty live bullets. In the left pocket of her spinsterly dress she carries a large stone, concealed in a black leather glove, with which she will smash the windscreen of Mussolini’s car should she need to shoot him in the vehicle. These are the implements of her saintly geste.


What the Tourists See


Classical Rome, medieval Rome, Renaissance Rome, baroque Rome, eighteenth-century Rome, post-unification Rome. Foreign visitors (an estimated 150,000 of whom have arrived in the city to celebrate Easter) are venturing forth from hotels and pensioni to pace out their routes across all these Romes, two thousand years of history and confused memories squashed into rubble or sculpted onto soaring masonry. For many tourists, it’s the last chance to rummage through their Baedeker or Murray’s Handbook of Rome before beginning the exodus home. Edith Wharton loathed these ‘red volumes which accompany the traveller through Italy’, because they had ‘so completely anticipated the most whimsical impulses of their readers that it is now almost impossible to plan a tour of exploration without finding, on reference to them, that their author has already been over the ground.’ But Violet’s impulses carry her along on a trajectory unmeasured by any guidebook.


Fascist Rome, great gusts of Roman glory, the sense of what Virginia Woolf identified as ‘an age to come of pure, self-assertive virility’. The ‘unmitigated masculinity’ of the new Rome is personified by its leader, Benito Mussolini, whose ‘muscles’ and ‘extraordinary vitality’ are a delight to Lady Asquith, wife of the former British Prime Minister (who offers, by contrast, an unconstructed physique and indoor skin). An estimated thirty million pictures of Il Duce in up to 2,500 different poses are in circulation.


He has been photographed swimming, fencing, boxing, riding, cutting corn shirtless, his chest glistening with sweat – unimaginable for most of his political contemporaries. Hitler, Stalin, Lenin, Baldwin, Chamberlain, Roosevelt, Blum and Franco are not visibly ‘men’ in this way, timidly keeping their bodies as private concerns. Mussolini’s body, it is said, leaves ‘after-images’ of itself to arouse the faithful. Clementine Churchill, meeting Il Duce in March 1926, found him ‘quite simple and natural, very dignified … [with] beautiful golden brown, piercing eyes which you can see but can’t look at.’ As if looking at him were like looking at the sun. All in all, she concluded, ‘one of the most wonderful men of our times.’ She was delighted to take away a signed photograph in memento. Lady Oxford described his sonorous voice as one of the most beautiful she had ever heard. Lady Ivy Chamberlain, wife of Foreign Secretary Sir Austen, was an enduring fan who treasured her own Fascist party badge (and, while they lasted, the orchids Mussolini sent her). Lady Sybil Graham, wife of the British ambassador, was said to be equally charmed.
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Tourist guides advise that Mussolini himself is among the sites to visit. ‘Everyone who came to Rome wanted to have an interview with Mussolini,’ observed an American journalist. ‘To see him was as much a part of the long-planned trip to the Eternal City as it was to visit the ruins or to walk over the places where the heroes of antiquity had once walked.’ Women travellers dream of tea with Mussolini – though he doesn’t drink it, except for camomile, which he takes both orally and through the rectum, as a palliative for his stomach pains.


Sister Caterina Flanagan will testify that Violet had watched an official procession in September 1925, but came back indignant because Mussolini had not appeared. This was not surprising, the nun explained (ignorant of Violet’s intentions), as many foreign guests at the convent who were great admirers of Mussolini’s ‘were constantly trying to catch a glimpse of him, and were disappointed if they failed’. How ridiculous, muses Foreign Secretary Dino Grandi, are these ‘elderly widows and elderly deracinated ladies’ – pace Miss Jean Brodie, a woman in her prime – who adore Il Duce and long to give him seed-cake.


What the Tourists Do Not See


They do not see the political prisoners, the castor oil, the manganello clubs, weighted with thick leather or lead; or the body of the murdered opposition leader Giacomo Matteotti, left to rot in a ditch outside Rome; or the three thousand dead and buried, bludgeoned or knifed or shot by Fascist squads. The tourists, as they settle into their wagon-lit trains (fully booked three weeks in advance, on account of Easter), do not see the prisoners transported to confino, internal exile, in cattle cars attached to third-class trains, chained, handcuffed, without food or air. The tourists do not see the smashed bones of the corpse of the anti-Fascist Catholic priest Don Giovanni Minzoni; or the contusions and internal bleeding of Socialist Party leader Giovanni Amendola, savagely beaten by Fascist thugs in July 1925. His broken body will never recover. Nine months later, on this very day, Wednesday, 7 April 1926, it is cooling on a slab in a hospital morgue in Cannes. A normal Fascist morning.


The inflation of Mussolini is continuous and pervasive. All newspapers are obliged to give prominent place to his articles and speeches; typesetters have to print the word DUCE in capital letters. There is a rush on gold paint and leaf, for decorating the lictors’ maces and fasces and Roman eagles and the throne that is being constructed for Mussolini to sit upon during the ceremony, in a few days’ time, to mark his elevation as ‘Caesar of the Modern Empire’. The fascination and élan of Fascism: but at its heart lies a rancour, a nervous fear. The regime is permanently readying itself for ‘the muster, the march, the battle, the liquidation of foes who paradoxically never [lose] their menace … for another conflict, another test’. Mussolini gives ‘fighting’ speeches. ‘War’ is declared against cabbies, who are told they must shave (‘Edict Bans Whiskers and Prescribes Hat, Collar and Tie’); against women who are dressed in ‘immodest garb’; against bachelors who refuse to go forth and multiply little Fascists. On the walls of thousands of buildings Mussolini’s historic slogans are daubed in indelible black varnish – Credere, Obbedire, Combattere (Believe, Obey, Fight); ‘Mussolini is always right’; ‘We shall shoot straight’.


Violet knows how to shoot a pistol, having once used one on herself. But her aim might be a problem, as the bullet she fired into her body a year ago – ‘I wanted to die for the glory of God’ – missed her heart and whizzed through her ribcage before coming to a halt in her shoulder bone.


Caput Mundi


At 9.30, after a meeting with the Duke d’Aosta, cousin of the king, Mussolini is driven the short distance from Palazzo Chigi to Campidoglio, the Capitoline. He isn’t wearing the bowler hat his mistress handed to him before he left his apartment – too much, perhaps, under a brilliant April sun. (He later abandons the use altogether, when he realises that bowlers are worn by Laurel and Hardy in the Hollywood comedies he so enjoys watching). He gets out of the car at the foot of the wide, shallow steps leading up to the capitol of the capital of the world, and ascends them at full tilt, leaving his personal secretary huffing and puffing behind him. This place is the centre – political, religious, administrative – of all Romes. If Mussolini has his way, it will be the centre also of the new Roman Empire.


Michelangelo’s exquisite geometry: a three-sided piazza of peach-coloured buildings in the middle of which Marcus Aurelius rides his bronze horse, centuries of stormy events swirling at his feet. On the west side is the Palazzo dei Conservatori, which Mussolini enters through the main door. He proceeds along the dizzying marble corridors, his heels clacking like castanets against the stone. In the Sala degli Orazi e Curiazi, he mounts the podium and launches into the inaugural speech of the Seventh International Congress of Surgeons. Hundreds of surgeons listen with satisfaction as Mussolini praises their art and thanks them for their many interventions on his own body after bits of it had been blown off or shattered in the Great War. The storm of steel that hit him was a misfired shell he himself had loaded, leaving him with scores of fragmentation and puncture wounds, a smashed right collarbone, a temporarily paralysed left arm and a severe laceration in his right leg which became infected, requiring an agonising scraping procedure down to the marrow of his shinbone. As it turns out, these have proved to be useful wounds, virtuous punctuation marks in the progress of a modern saviour as he advances towards his triumph.


One early biographer of Mussolini wrote, in Dux, that he had so many war wounds he seemed like ‘Saint Sebastian, his flesh pierced as if with arrows.’ The author was Margherita Sarfatti, who as Mussolini’s mistress was well qualified to trace the intimate details of his body. Mussolini collected near-death experiences like generals collect medals: duels (he fought at least two in 1919, and one in 1920), plane crashes (in March 1921 a plane he was piloting nosedived suddenly and crashed – he emerged with only scratches to his face and a twisted knee). And explosives. Shortly before the March on Rome, in October 1922, a bullet grazed his ear when a euphoric squadrista fired his gun into the air. As a newspaper editor in Milan, Mussolini used to keep several bombs and hand grenades on his desk, ‘in case his political enemies should attack him’, reported Time magazine. Once, while writing an editorial, ‘he set fire to the fuse of one of these bombs by accidentally resting his cigarette upon it. An assistant noticed the smouldering fuse, screamed. Looking up, Editor Mussolini snuffed it out with his fingers, continued the writing of his editorial.’ ‘I like to live dangerously,’ Mussolini was fond of saying.
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Violet approaches Campidoglio. Perhaps the large crowd gathered there draws her to the place. This is not on her itinerary for today, not the scene she has chosen for a fatal encounter with Mussolini. In her pocket is a tiny scrap of paper, the tip of the lip of an envelope, on which she has written ‘Palazzo del Littorio’, the address of the Fascist Party headquarters where, according to the newspaper she has been reading, Il Duce will appear that afternoon. On Campidoglio, she approaches a tall, bearded man and asks if the King is present. No, not the King. Mussolini. She threads her way through the crowd and positions herself by one of the two lamp posts just outside the Palazzo dei Conservatori. Nearby are two uniformed policemen. Directly in front of her are the liveried marshals of the Capitol in stiffly brocaded silk coats and plumed bicorn hats. Plainclothes secret agents are everywhere. She looks old and sad and bedraggled, with precarious spectacles – she stands in the golden section of this Fascist tableau vivant, and nobody notices her.
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Here he is. Mussolini has left the building, and is making his way towards the statue of Marcus Aurelius, where his black Lancia is waiting with the engine turning over. It is 10.58 a.m. The Governor of Rome is in front of him, and doctors Bastianelli and Alessandri are alongside him. Behind them follow Quinto Navarra and other staff, led by the Foreign Secretary, Dino Grandi. A jostled photograph shows Mussolini striding forward confidently, chest puffed out like a cockerel. The crowd is swaying forward to get a closer look. The odd straggler pops out like a hernia from behind police lines and is pushed back in. ‘Viva il Duce!’ is the chant, which Il Duce acknowledges with a salute. He stops less than a foot away from Violet. A group of students bursts into a chorus of the Fascist anthem, ‘Giovinezza’:
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Campidoglio, seconds before Mussolini emerges from the Palazzo dei Conservatori. Violet (circled) is next to the lamp post.













The poets and the artisans,


The landlords and the peasants,


With pride at being Italian


Swear faith to Mussolini.


There is no poor quarter


That does not send its men


Does not unfurl the flags


Of Fascism the redeemer.





Mussolini turns his head slightly to acknowledge the students. According to one eyewitness account, the sound of the gun firing is like a stick thwacking a stone. Mussolini’s saluting arm retracts, his hand clamps to his face, blood pours between his fingers. He staggers back, one step, two. But he is still on his feet. He looks up, astonished, and his eyes settle on Violet, who is also astonished, just as she pulls the trigger again.


Click.




*





A misfire. The pistol hammer strikes, but nothing happens. The bullet has stuck in the chamber. Several seconds pass, in which everybody is suddenly and unnaturally fixed, held to their positions as in a game of grandmother’s footsteps. Silence without, and within the amplified thud of heartbeats.


Then uproar. Mussolini, once he realises he is not dead, summons more composure than anybody else at the scene. ‘It’s nothing, everybody stay calm,’ he orders, and everybody panics. He brushes aside the famed physician Dr Bastianelli, who was standing behind him when the gun was fired and who now produces a handkerchief and is trying to press it to Mussolini’s bleeding face. More screams from the crowd. ‘Don’t be afraid,’ Mussolini commands. ‘I’m here. This is a mere trifle.’ He is right: Violet’s first bullet has nicked the bridge of his nose, removing a tiny divot of flesh. But such is the loss of blood that Mussolini eventually yields to Bastianelli’s suggestion that they go back inside the building to stem the flow and treat the wound.




*





As Mussolini is being hustled away, Violet is set upon by the crowd, which ‘like flames of fire’ leaps up into ‘a frenzied rage’, according to one excited report. A woman standing behind Violet strikes her, hitting her about the head with a handbag and pulling her hair. She will later boast of having been the first to land a blow. The pummelling is delivered with the added vigour of personal affront, for, as she tells it, Violet had nudged her out of her original spot and obscured her view. Of the two policemen who are within arm’s length of Violet, one manages to knock the pistol from her hand, while the other punches her square in the face. This blow knocks Violet backwards to the ground, whereupon the mob jumps on top of her, kicking her about and tearing at her clothes.


Police superintendent Ermanno De Bernardini tries to gain control of the crowd. ‘Leave her! Let us do our job!’ he shouts. ‘She’s ours!’ somebody replies. In the ensuing melee, Brigadier Lucarini, a uniformed officer, suffers cuts and bruises sufficient to merit a visit to hospital. This is now a massive brawl. Witness statements and police reports reveal the sheer number of agents present, the different departments involved in policing the event, and ultimately, the uselessness of all of them. Violet looks vacant, stunned. She does nothing, does not cry out for mercy or deflect the blows. Her rope of hair has loosened, adding to her dishevelled appearance. Her spectacles have been trampled on, and the holy medallions she was wearing around her neck – her protecting saints – have been yanked off. With great difficulty, the policemen drag her away from the scene before the crowd can tear her limb from limb.


Mussolini, meanwhile, is in a small storeroom, lying backwards across a chair with his feet in the air and his head hanging over the edge (so that it is lower than his heart), from which position he has an upside-down view of the chaos unfolding around him. If he is in danger, it is from the crush of hundreds of eminent surgeons all determined to save his life. ‘[They] almost killed me,’ he later tells his wife Rachele. ‘Those illustrious scientists, in the name of helping me, threw themselves across me and almost smothered me. I confess that in that instant I felt afraid. I defended myself energetically but with difficulty.’ Outside, the crowd goes mad, some windows are smashed. Fifteen minutes later, Il Duce reappears with a large plaster spread across his nose and cheeks like an accidental butterfly. Once again he addresses the crowd and calls for calm, but the people press forward, knocking down the barriers and surging around him. With difficulty, he is manoeuvred towards his car, bundled into it and driven back to his apartment, where he can finally allow himself to be shocked. His mistress, Margherita, who has no idea of what has just happened, is there to receive him.




*





Violet has been taken into the courtyard of the Museo dei Conservatori, containing the fragments – head, hand, foot – of the colossal statue of Constantine the Great, the emperor who believed that Rome’s future lay with Christianity. The toe of the foot is bigger than a man’s waist. Against the gargantuan proportions of these marble remains, miniature Violet is like Alice in Wonderland. She is very confused. Nearby, the sound of shattered glass as a window is broken. Somebody sends for a brandy to calm her nerves. ‘Drink me’. She does. She stammers out her name and two addresses in Rome, then refuses to speak further.


An hour or so later, when the square has been cleared and closed off as a crime scene, she is driven in a police car the short distance to the Mantellate prison, a vast complex on the west bank of the Tiber. She is seated in the back of the car, without handcuffs, between police superintendents Epifanio Pennetta and De Bernardini, both of the Political Police. She remains silent. At the prison, she is received by the nuns who run the women’s section. She is photographed – two mug shots, one in profile, the other straight on – next to a criminal identification number, 14967. Her cheeks are flushed, a sign of incipient swelling from the punches she has taken. There are scratches and cuts on her face, as if she has just run pell-mell through a bramble bush. Her starched white collar is torn. The line of her mouth and lips is a thin horizontal, framed by two deep creases running down the inside of both cheeks. Her once fine facial structure – the raised cheekbones, the well-defined jawline – has suffered subsidence following the removal of most of her upper teeth some years previously. Her eyes are suffused with a kind of mist; her gaze is both terribly resigned and painfully direct. She looks out as if at a porthole, beyond which lies the vast wilderness of the world.
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She is then fingerprinted, each digit of her left hand ink-pressed and held under the guiding hand of a police officer – a careful process, like rolling gnocchi in flour. She is handed over to the nun-jailers, who stripsearch her and confiscate her garter belt and hair clips. A search of her clothes turns up the little scrap of paper on which she has written ‘Palazzo del Littorio’. There is nothing else. No handbag no money, no identity papers, no personal effects. Violet is then washed and taken to the infirmary so that the cuts and swellings on her face and body can be attended to.


Shortly afterwards, and still in the infirmary, Violet meets the men who will determine what will happen to her: the chief of police, the crown prosecutor, chief superintendent pennetta, and two investigating magistrates. There is an interpreter, because none of them yet knows whether she speaks Italian. She replies falteringly to their questions, in English with a light Irish accent, giving some personal details and confirming that she has been in Rome for some time. She tells them she tried to commit suicide last year, that she has not returned to England because she fears her family will put her in a lunatic asylum. She is shown the Lebel pistol, but says she doesn’t know what has happened, she has never seen Mussolini before. The questions become more heated: ‘I don’t know anything. I don’t remember anything.’ And then, with a look of surprise: ‘Mussolini? Are you sure it was me?’



















II


Then





The Honourable Violet Gibson, daughter of Lord and Lady Ashbourne, is wearing a dress of white poplinette, with lace and chiffon fichus, fastened on the left side with a bunch of pink malmaison carnations, and a large white hat trimmed with chiffon and pink carnations, and bouquet of the same. She is twenty-four, a bridesmaid at her brother’s wedding. This detail drops from a sepia-aged cutting from The Times that has been pasted into a hefty leather-bound album of newspaper clippings. There are several other volumes, held at the House of Lords archive, all devoted to the Ashbourne family, paterfamilias Edward Gibson, first Lord Ashbourne, Lord Chancellor of Ireland. Politically and socially, in Dublin and in London, the Ashbournes have made their mark, and they keep an assiduous record of it.


From the cuttings the outline of Violet’s social curriculum can be traced. At eighteen she is presented as a debutante by her mother at the court of Queen Victoria, and thus gains the threshold of the belle-époque establishment. Thereafter she is a regular fixture in the society columns and court circulars. She attends a reception with her parents given by the Duchess of Devonshire at Devonshire House, Piccadilly; a luncheon given in Dublin by Lord Ashbourne in honour of the Lord Lieutenant and Countess Cadogan; the annual reception of the Marquess and Marchioness of Londonderry for the opening of parliament, regarded as the major event of the London season (some quipped that Londonderry was ‘catering his way into the cabinet’). She is a guest at state concerts at Buckingham Palace (‘Full Dress, Ladies with Feathers and Trains’), where, surrounded by the contents of Burke’s Peerage, the Libro d’oro, the Almanach de Gotha, she listens to Sir Walter Parratt conduct flowery songs by Donizetti, Jensen, Liszt, Adam. She is reported by The Times to be with her parents and brother William in St Moritz, where the season is in full swing. There, together with the Duchess of York, the Duchess of Teck, the Duchess d’Aosta, the Comte de Turin and a potpourri of other European nobility, she watches her brother Harry, a keen sportsman and leading tobogganer of the Engadine, as he wins the Grand National race. (His book, Tobogganning on Crooked Runs, was reviewed as ‘one of the best known works on that fascinating sport’, though his use of ‘the Queen’s English’ was considered ‘rude and often positively reprehensible’.)
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Harry Gibson with fellow tobogganer 








As the winter season ends in Switzerland, it continues in Dublin, where Violet gracefully assists at her mother’s ball, ‘attended, of course, by a large crowd of the elite’. The decoration, ‘carried out in white Nile lilies, variegated tulips and smilax’ suspended from the ceilings in enormous nosegays, is ‘notably beautiful and abundant’. Violet wears a dress of pure white satin, the bodice completely covered with a network and fringes of pearls, and finished on the shoulders with clusters of violets and foliage. She sparkles amidst the ‘triste toilettes’ of the Duchess of Buccleuch, Lady Inchiquin, and Lady Hastings, who all wear black. At another wedding, that of her sister Elsie in June 1893, Violet, a bridesmaid, wears a white bengaline dress with a full waistcoat of fine lace and a picture hat trimmed with lace and silk to match. ‘She was the shyest of the bridesmaids, but she looked so nice!’ Elsie writes in a letter from her honeymoon.


In a photograph published in the Lady’s Pictorial in September 1897, Violet appears beautifully attired, her waist cinched to an impossible circumference, her long tresses of hair piled high under a hat decorated with fresh flowers. She looks anything but shy: she holds her head, tilted at a slight angle, in a dashing, thoroughbred way, confident, spirited. Extremely pretty, the embodiment of belle-époque fashion, she stands just feet away from the Duke and Duchess of York (the future King George V and Queen Mary) on their official visit to Howth Castle, which Lord Ashbourne had rented as a formal residence befitting the office of Lord Chancellor. Flanking the royal party are her parents, the archbishop of Dublin and the Lord Chief Justice of Ireland – the mentors of her youth, fixed in an exalted frieze, ‘calmly conscious of a social and economic ascendancy which appeared theirs by right’.


This is the Honourable Violet Gibson in her youth, firmly and safely entrenched in a caste outfitted with privilege, topped with picture hats, and a title that signals her significance in the Anglo-Irish ruling elite. This is her life, before her thoughts turned against her, before the world as she knew it went all topsy-turvy.
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The royal party at Howth Castle, September 1897. Violet is on the right, next to her father.










*





In a key passage in Mrs Dalloway, Virginia Woolf ’s protagonist Clarissa meditates on the woman she can see moving around in the opposite house, about whom she knows nothing. Clarissa discounts deep metaphysical explanation – ‘love and religion’ – preferring to see in ‘the midst of ordinary things’, in life itself, a riddle. ‘The supreme mystery … was simply this: here is one room: there another’ – which stands for the nugatory knowledge we have of the lives of others. We see, but we see across an impassable distance, another human being, passing from one room to another. Violet Gibson: how little we know. We see her in one ‘room’, one state – levelling a pistol at Benito Mussolini. We see her in another ‘room’, another state – a slender debutante, smiling, radiant. The mystery is how this woman, so vivid to us in each state, each contradictory state, achieves the short, enigmatic journey – a lifetime and a moment – from the lighted room to the shadows of the one beyond.



















III


Open, O Ye Heavenly Gates





Like the floral nosegays on the ceiling at her mother’s ball, Violet Gibson was not expected to do much. Her life, as the daughter of Ireland’s pre-eminent statesman, was lived at the heights, up there with the sans pareil. It was a genteel, sequestered existence, far removed from the blood and mire of Irish politics and the subsistence conditions in which most of the population lived. There were concerts, art galleries, lectures to be attended, salons for discussion and coquetting and drinking tea from bone china. There were carriage rides along the high-walled lanes of Dalkey, a fashionable Dublin suburb where the Gibsons maintained a residence; and, from their city home, walks to and around a tightly knit nucleus of institutions: the Royal Dublin Society, Trinity College, the National Library and the clubs around St Stephen’s Green. Walking between them, or down Grafton Street, people constantly met one another. Society was small enough to know ‘everybody’, or their relations – genealogy was a second language, and nobody questioned the grandiose canopy of a family tree if it featured in Burke’s Landed Gentry of Ireland, even though Sir Bernard Burke was lax in pressing for proper proofs of descent.


The Gibsons lived in a beautifully appointed Georgian house in Merrion Square, a coveted address for Dublin’s elite. Violet’s father, Edward, had been born here in 1837, the son of a wealthy solicitor who held the office of taxing master in Chancery. There was a family fortune, accumulated over four centuries since the Gibsons, English protestants, had settled in County Meath, and consisting primarily of cash rather than extensive land ownership (in 1885, the family registered holdings of less than two thousand acres). The practice of law being the principal profession of Edward’s forefathers, it would appear that British justice had served the family well in more ways than one. Edward, far into his own, well-remunerated career, received a substantial annual income from his father.


Edward was a sickly child, withdrawn from prep school because of his frail constitution and tutored at home. He achieved the rare distinction of winning a place at Dublin University’s Trinity College when he was only fifteen. He read English History, English Literature and Political Science, became president of the Historical Society and left laden with prizes and ‘a reputation at twenty that some men at forty vainly sigh for’. He then read for the Bar from chambers at Lincoln’s Inn in London, taking silk in 1871, and for the next twelve years he practised tirelessly on the Irish circuit. Little is known about his legal career, probably because not much happened. His enemies claimed that he ‘never had any practice worth speaking of’; others that ‘possessed of ample means, he was placed above the necessity of slaving at his profession, and could afford to devote much time to public duties’. In 1875, at the age of thirty-seven, he was returned to the House of Commons as the Conservative member for the University of Dublin. It was an easy victory – the electorate for the seat was tiny, a couple of thousand at most, and most of them were allowed to vote twice, once as graduates of the university and again in their home constituencies; but from this moment Edward Gibson became a prominent figure in public life.


He was noted for his mass of prematurely snow-white hair and his florid ‘Hibernian face’, lit up by a pair of piercing black eyes; also his eloquence (though he could be windy, with speeches rarely lasting less than an hour) and chivalrous fairness, an unusual quality in Irish politics. He was, a journalist wrote, ‘A man of even temper, of polished manners, of large scholarship, utterly devoid of spiteful feeling toward any class of his countrymen, having no quarrel with any of them, and wishing well to them all.’ His wit, his pungent and decisive irony, delivered in a ‘mellifluous voice just softened by the real Dublin brogue’, made him a compelling figure in the House of Commons, where he was ranked as one of the ‘hardest hitters’ alongside Gladstone and Randolph Churchill.




He never fails in a great debate to rise to the occasion. He is one of the few speakers in the House who is listened to with attentive interest by both sides … When the word is passed into the lobby or the tea-room that ‘Gibson is up’, there is invariably a rush inside.





Equipped with a little travelling air-pillow, Gibson shuttled between his Dublin chambers and Westminster on the Royal Mail Service via Holyhead and Kingstown, a sea passage of just over three hours. The mail packets were advertised as having ‘unequalled First Class accommodation, Private Deck cabins, Lavatories, Smoking Rooms, and every modern improvement. They are lighted by electricity.’ Cheaper fares were available for less commodious arrangements, and they were taken up by the tens of thousands of men, women and children who were part of the mass exodus from an Ireland in which few shared in Gibson’s fortune. At least three million people left between 1845 and 1870, their misfortune the more typical lot in a country where the poverty of the many contrasted drastically with the wealth of the few, where laissez-faire economics and fractious politics saw wild oscillations between conciliation and coercion, curfews, martial law.


When Gibson first took his seat in the House of Commons, most Englishmen had forgotten about the Irish problem. Michael Davitt, the Fenian activist who was to lead the Irish peasants’ revolt after 1877, was serving time in Dartmoor prison for ‘treason felony’, and the Home Rule MPs had not yet become more than ‘minor nuisances on the fringe of Parliamentary life’. Conditions in Ireland being deemed peaceful, Disraeli’s Conservative government, formed in 1874, was pursuing a policy of benign neglect. Initially, Gibson supported this inactivity. He dismissed as absurd those Home Rulers who were agitating for land reform in Ireland, and claimed that most Irish tenants (the majority Catholic population) were ‘exceptionally prosperous’, that ‘the savings banks were teeming with the millions of the people’. Before two parliamentary sessions were over he had made such an impression that Disraeli nominated him Attorney General for Ireland. Gibson turned this minor office (traditionally held as a stepping-stone to the judicial bench) into one of the most influential departments in the Irish government. He was even spoken of as the ‘effective controller [of policy] at Dublin Castle’ who gave the putative heads of government – the Lord Lieutenant and the Chief Secretary – their marching orders.


Gibson’s position as Disraeli’s Irish protégé came to an abrupt end when the latter died in April 1881. There followed a protracted power struggle in the Conservative party, and an alarming deterioration in Irish affairs. By the time Gibson was appointed Lord Chancellor of Ireland in June 1885, the country was ‘fast merging into the conditions of anarchy’. Gibson’s earlier comments about the prosperity of Irish tenants now appeared culpably glib. The countryside was convulsed by the Land War, a conflict between half-starved peasants and the old landed ruling class that was conducted in a feverish atmosphere loud with threat and vicious struggles with armed police. Nearly fifteen thousand tenants were violently evicted for non-payment of rents between 1879 and 1883, more than over the previous thirty years. ‘The houses were ransacked, the furniture thrown out, the fires quenched, and a bit of thatch was taken possession of as a token in each case that the landlord had re-entered his rights. Then the inhabitants were turned adrift in the world.’ In response, some landlords were assassinated, others were confronted by the famous no-rent policy of ‘boycott’ – so named after Captain Charles Boycott, one of the strategy’s victims in Mayo – organised by the Land League (‘the land of Ireland for the people of Ireland’) with the backing of the Home Rulers whom Gibson so disparaged. In 1880 alone, 2,590 incidents of murder, assault (including ear clipping), intimidation, attacks on animals and other outrages were attributed to the Land League’s militant activists.


Ireland was a confused and devastated place, suspended between two languages, between two conflicting ideas of who the country belonged to. The combination of an agricultural depression and a determined attempt to mount a challenge to the existing land-ownership structure resulted in something quite unprecedented: a fusion of radical protest in the countryside with disciplined parliamentary opposition in the shape of Charles Stewart Parnell’s Irish Party. Parnell, who had spent time in jail and was accused of conniving at the infamous Phoenix Park murders of May 1882 (which claimed the two most senior imperial figures in Ireland), was himself an encumbered landlord. Impeccably conservative in his social attitudes, he wanted the peasants to own their land and Ireland to develop as a capitalist country. But he knew how to hint at the violence that could be unleashed if demands for land reform and Home Rule were not met. ‘Ireland has been knocking at the English door long enough with kid gloves, and now she will knock with a mailed hand,’ he told a meeting of supporters in 1885, his voice trembling with passion. Unionists (so-called for their allegiance to the 1800 Act of Union by which Ireland was politically joined to the United Kingdom) referred fearfully to ‘a reign of terror’, and imagined themselves into the menacing landscape of the gothic horror that Irish novelists made so convincingly their own (culminating in Bram Stoker’s Dracula, whose early title, The Dead Un-Dead, was an appropriate metaphor for the impossible reality in which many Anglo-Irish found themselves).


Gibson, elevated to the peerage as the first Baron Ashbourne upon his appointment as Lord Chancellor, was swift to make his mark as ‘the keeper of the Queen’s Irish conscience’. It may have been the ominous sense of threat from an enveloping Catholic nationalism, or he may have undergone some genuine soul-searching since his curt portrayal of Irish tenants enjoying the locust years, or it may have been pure political calculation (Westminster was now dominated by long and highly combustible debates on Ireland), but within the space of a few days in early July 1885 he single-handedly drafted an act – the Land Purchase Act, soon commonly known as Lord Ashbourne’s Act – which conferred on Irish tenants opportunities of purchasing their holdings on favourable terms. This was Ashbourne’s solution to the question of Home Rule: kill it with kindness. Governance from Westminster should continue, not by repression, but by gradual reform aimed at improving the circumstances of Ireland’s people.


The Act sealed Ashbourne’s reputation as a paternalistic conservative, a servant of the Crown devoted to the Act of Union but also to the inalienable rights (or at least some of them) of its subject population. Ashbourne had his detractors, of course – those who refused to concede that the Crown had the right to gift what didn’t belong to it. Within Ashbourne’s own family, the tension developed into a painful and unresolvable conflict, for prominent among those who disagreed with him was his own son and heir, Willie. As decided in his Irish nationalism as the father was in his Unionism, Willie loathed British rule with all its ‘hideous, patronising, doctrinaire, all-for-Ireland’s-good, little measured out globules of remedies’, as Alice James memorably characterised it.




*





Edward Gibson had married the nineteen-year-old Frances Colles, of County Meath, in 1868. In that year, she produced his heir, William, followed by seven children within a decade – Henry (Harry), Elizabeth (Elsie), Edward, Ernest (known by his second name, Victor), Frances, Violet (Vizie), born in 1876, and finally Constance. In 1872, Gibson’s father died, leaving him a very rich man. The value of the estate was published in the newspapers as £61,000 (roughly £4 million today), ‘besides landed property’. ‘What an awful lot of money I suppose you will have,’ Frances wrote to her ‘darling husband’, who was away at the time. ‘It really almost frightens me to think of it.’


Energised by his fortune, his professional success and his numerous offspring, Gibson was ‘a thoroughly domesticated man’, devoted to his wife and children, enjoying their company to an extent rare among the politicians of his generation. But, despite his desire to spend as much time as possible with them, events often forced the family to separate. In these periods, the children were pursued by a steady stream of letters from their anxious father. Reunions were joyous but emotionally tumultuous affairs, his presence inextricably associated with his absence. Interviewed in 1883, he was observed ‘amusing his little daughters, one of whom [Violet] is sitting on his knees, and trying to divert his attention from the Parliamentary Reports of the last night’s debate, to admire her doll’. Such diversionary tactics met with limited success. ‘He has’, another journalist commented, ‘a wonderful power of abstraction, and conversation does not in the least disturb him.’


For Violet, especially, his abstraction was a void, a well of darkness in what Virginia Woolf described as ‘that great cathedral space which was childhood’. To be simultaneously doted on and ignored was muddling, an unwanted extra confusion in the journeywork of growing up. Of all the children, Violet seems to have adopted the most striking strategies for dealing with this ambivalence. ‘She showed signs, even as a little girl, of a peculiar temperament,’ her younger sister Constance remembered. ‘She was hysterical and impatient of restraint, would fly into the most awful tempers, over the least trifle, and often lost control of herself.’ W. B. Yeats once observed that children ‘weep, like geniuses, tears upon tears for some dead Orpheus of whom they have dreamt and pass with wondering indifference, like geniuses, among the sorrows of their own household’. Violet was never equipped with this wondering indifference.


Violet may have learned to stamp her feet to get attention (when Lucia Joyce did the same, her father James referred to her ‘King Lear scenes’), but she also learned the ways befitting a young Honourable, the title she acquired, aged nine, when her father became a peer. She was a beautiful girl, very finely built with pre-Raphaelite features, diminutive proportions (her adult height was five feet one inch), thoughtful grey eyes. She sang well and loved art, both interests that she had the leisure to indulge. Her education, conducted at home by governesses, encompassed little else. There was also travel, to broaden the mind. When she was ten, she visited Italy for the first time, taking in Venice and the Italian Lakes, to which she returned regularly each spring for several years. In the summer months, the family decamped to a small estate near Boulogne-sur-Mer, taken by Lord Ashbourne on a long lease in the mid-1880s. Violet learned to speak excellent French, and encouraged her father in the same. Here was an opportunity, against the competing claims of her many siblings, for communicating with him exclusively, for harnessing his distraction to her own needs. But he never mastered the language.




*





When he became Lord Chancellor, the new Lord Ashbourne acquired a huge annual salary of £8,000 (equivalent to £640,000 today), a seat in cabinet, a family crest (‘on a bank a pelican in her piety’) and a motto, taken from the Psalms: Coelestes pandite portae, ‘Open, O Ye Heavenly Gates’. Certainly, the Ashbournes knew little of the earth-floored slums north of the Liffey, or of the murky north-side suburbs later anatomised by James Joyce in Dubliners. Dublin’s poor were among the worst-fed and worst-housed in Europe, with an adult mortality rate beaten only by cities like Trieste and Rio de Janeiro. Living conditions were ‘spectacularly destitute’, with twenty-five per cent of families living in one-room tenements occupied by more than four people. For the Lord Chancellor’s family, ‘immured behind the stockade of Protestant respectability’, the immiseration, the upheavals in the countryside, the murders and mass arrests, were held at bay. They were the noises-off to a closed-circuit life of balls, entertainments and jollity, to which the house on Merrion Square was magnificently suited.


In the leather-bound albums (diligently compiled by Constance) is an article from The World captioned ‘Celebrities at Home’, in which the reporter describes a breathless tour of the Merrion Square residence, wondrously mapping out a house crammed with riches: Chippendale furniture, Empire writing-tables, Sheraton sideboards, ornate Italian stucco-work, Dresden china. At the top of the first flight of stairs was ‘a delightful alcove especially built by Lord Ashbourne to receive the beautiful white Carrara marble statue of Paolo and Francesca da Rimini … an exquisite specimen of sculpture, and highly prized by Lord Ashbourne, who purchased it at the Milan Art Exhibition in 1872’. There were ceilings by Adam; Bartolozzi engravings, ‘much prized by Lady Ashbourne, who is a keen collector herself’; a dining room in crimson and white seating forty; a library containing comfortable Chesterfield and easy chairs and a large desk. Books and bric-a-brac were everywhere, and there were cut flowers in profusion. The impression is of a house given over to formal entertaining, to the acquisition of beautiful objects, but also, in the less stuffy atmosphere of the library, to use by all the family, to relaxation and recreation.


The hallway gave evidence of another pastime. It was adorned with swords, muskets, pistols, blunderbusses ‘and other less civilised weapons’. Violet’s brother Harry was a first-rate shot with rifle and pistol. His old school magazine reported that ‘he narrowly escaped having to fight a duel with a Frenchman, his opponent in a competition, because he had thoughtlessly fired with the left hand, which he could use equally well with the right’. Violet may have learned something about shooting from him, and from the array of arms that hung in the hallway at Merrion Square.
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 Violet at age seventeen, shortly before being presented at court as a debutante.

























IV


The Problem of Being





The principal aspiration for Lord Ashbourne’s daughters was that they should marry well and thus consolidate the family’s Anglo-Protestant respectability. In this, Elsie and Frances both proved high achievers: Elsie married William, fifth Baron Bolton of Bolton Castle in 1893, and Frances married Alexander Horsbrugh-Porter, son of Sir Andrew Porter, in 1904. Unmarried daughters were expected to stay at home and look after their parents, a role the youngest daughter Constance, true to her name (or perhaps hostage to it), assumed with disciplined devotion. Violet, determined to escape either destiny, was to take an altogether different path.


The training for these roles was simple: education at home until the age of twelve; reading (not too much, as this could create an excess of independent thought); languages; social graces (a well-executed curtsey went a long way, as did a firm but good manner with servants). There was also needlework, an activity Virginia Woolf learned to loathe as symbolising a kind of mindless passivity. There were no seventeenth-century women poets, she argued, because Shakespeare’s sister was too busy mending stockings or tending to the stew. Alice James, whose considerable literary talents were eclipsed by the fame of her brothers, confided to her diary the hobbling powerlessness of this passivity. She described how she ‘tried to sit immovable reading in the library with waves of violent inclination suddenly invading my muscles taking on some of their myriad forms such as throwing myself out of the window, or knocking off the head of the benignant pater as he sat with his silver locks writing at his table’. Similar conditions prevailed at Merrion Square. From the ‘Celebrities at Home’ article in The World, we learn that ‘Lord Ashbourne generally works in the midst of his family in the “green” room, which is most frequently used when they are all sitting together. Some of his most important speeches and judgments were written there.’ The benignant pater, like Mr James, sat at his desk, his silver locks falling over his papers and notebooks while the young Violet struggled with the volcanic substrata of her emotions until they finally detonated in the ‘most awful tempers’, to the horror of her family.


Unlike her sisters, who enjoyed strong constitutions (Frances was a keen hockey player, a passion she ranked alongside ‘mathematics and keeping pets’), Violet was an extremely frail child, condemned to observe energy rather than expend it. Ironically, the sheer frustration of this predicament most likely produced the energetic tantrums that were frowned on by medical (not to mention social) convention. Her illnesses – scarlet fever at five, prolonged peritonitis at fourteen, pleurisy at sixteen, rubella at twenty – made her different, set her apart from her siblings, creating the expectation that hers was to be a life of the swoon and the chaise longue on which she must lie ‘like a piece of timber’, as Virginia Woolf put it. Taking up this theme of life bypassing the invalid, Alice James railed against the contradictions produced by the combination of a lively intellect and a weak body:




I seem perfectly grotesque to myself, a wretched, shrivelled, alien enclosed between four walls, with such an extraordinary disproportion between what is felt and what is heard and seen … an emotional volcano within, with the outward reverberation of a mouse and the physical significance of a chip of lead-pencil.





Reflecting on this terrible disjunction, Florence Nightingale recorded that as a very young child she had ‘an obsession’ that she was ‘not like other people’. She was ‘a monster’; that was her ‘secret which might at any moment be found out’. Her autobiographical novel Cassandra (written in 1852, but not published in her lifetime) was a scathing analysis of the stresses and conventions that drove so many Victorian women to silence, depression, illness, even lunatic asylums and death. Reading it in the late 1920s, Virginia Woolf thought it was more like screaming than writing.


The crushing suppression of possibility. What to do? More needlework? A jigsaw? Take up a book? At a time when women’s rights were still a peripheral topic, few were able to break out. Nightingale, famously, lit the way, repudiating conventional society and the frustrations of the Victorian female role, as did the Irish aristocrat Maud Gonne after her. There were other rebels, who toiled to secure the status of licensed freethinkers. The Anglo-Irish cousins Edith Somerville and (Violet) Martin Ross, who refused their male suitors and earned their own living by writing (as Somerville and Ross, The Real Charlotte, Some Experiences of an Irish R.M.); who took photographs of each other naked on the beach, their cinched waists, twenty inches, showing their fascination with stays; and rode out to hunt – Martin, short-sighted but sans spectacles, getting completely lost, and rarely able to see the jumps until she was already flying through the air, and getting her hair painfully tangled in low-hanging branches and afterwards wishing she were bald. There was Eileen Gray, an Irish–Scots aristocrat born in County Wexford in 1878, who set off for Paris where she embarked on bisexuality and a distinguished career as a designer. And Freya Stark, whose early impatience with stuffy family rites (she would abscond from boring picnics on Dartmoor by galloping off on her pony) developed into adventurous solitary journeys in the Middle East and many acclaimed books.


But such adventures were, in the main, reserved for men, whose ambitions and desires the world was organised to satisfy. Violet’s brothers, schooled at Wellington, Harrow, Trinity Dublin, Cambridge, Oxford, were accustomed to action. They were the elite corps of the ‘Anglo-Saxon fraternity’, bearers of a sacred trust, as the headmaster of Harrow, the Reverend Welldon, reminded himself: ‘An English headmaster, as he looks to the future of his pupils, will not forget that they are to be the citizens of the greatest Empire under heaven … he will inspire them with faith in the divinely ordered mission of their country and their race.’


It was in this spirit that Victor Gibson left Ireland in the spring of 1900 to fight in the Boer War. A dashing thrill-seeker and man-about-town, Victor was the sergeant and founder of the 45th Dublin Company, or Irish Hunt contingent. The men of this hastily assembled mounted battalion, dressed in Norfolk jackets and felt hats, and paying their own passage to South Africa, were regarded as ‘the social and political show-piece of the new Volunteer Army’. The Earl of Longford and Viscount Ennismore joined, as did two companies of Ulster Protestant Unionists including the Earl of Leitrim, a whiskey baronet, and a group of English and Irish gadflies who were happy to convert both themselves and their hunting equipment – horses, clothing and saddlery – into assets in the British imperial cause.


What started as a great adventure for the twenty-five-year-old Victor quickly ripened into disaster. On 31 May, his company, along with the entire 13th battalion of the Imperial Yeomanry, was captured by the Boers at Lindley. ‘There was a gallant Last Stand,’ writes the historian Thomas Pakenham, a descendant of the Earl of Longford, whose textbook die-hard conduct ensured the debacle that followed. ‘With blood streaming from wounds at the neck, face, and wrists, [Longford] ordered his men to fight to the end. “I knew it to be madness,” Victor Gibson later said, “and so did everyone else, I think, but not a man refused.”’ The Boer bag totalled about 530 men, including the seriously wounded Longford, Lords Ennismore, Leitrim, and Donoughmore and the Honourable Victor Gibson. The whiskey baronet was killed, hopefully under the influence of his own malt. The wounded were left at Lindley, and the other prisoners were marched northwards to the eastern Transvaal, away from the twenty thousand British troops trying to rescue them.


In London and Dublin news of the Lindley fiasco was met with horror. ‘The utmost anxiety now prevails’, reported The Times on 7 June. Later that month, intelligence reached the War Office that the bulk of prisoners, including Victor, were ‘stated to have been in good health’. For the Ashbournes, there was little to do but wait for further, scarce bulletins. In this atmosphere of nerve-racking suspense they resolved to press on with plans for the wedding of Edward, which event took place on 15 August 1900, with Violet as bridesmaid, clutching her bouquet of pink malmaison carnations. Victor excepted, the Ashbournes were all present, their family now enlarged by the marriage of Willie in 1896 to Marianne de Monbrison, of French Huguenot descent, and of Elsie to Lord Bolton in 1893, a union that had already produced three children. Three months after being captured, Victor and the remainder of his shattered battalion were finally released, sailing home on 26 September in the Carisbrooke Castle.


By this time, the Boer War was aligning Irish nationalism along a broad front. Decrying British policy in South Africa as a repeat of the colonisation of Ireland, nationalists like Maud Gonne advocated the bombing of British troopships. Together with her friend and collaborator Arthur Griffith, Gonne formed the Transvaal Committee, one of whose first acts was the vote to give the freedom of the city of Dublin to Paul Kruger, president of South Africa and the face of Boer resistance to the British. The committee later evolved into Cumann na nGaedhael (Society of the Gaels), and later still into Sinn Féin (‘Ourselves’ or ‘Our Own Thing’). The war also deepened the furrows within the Ashbourne family. Where Lord Ashbourne was a conservative, a Unionist, a passionate exponent of British imperialism (in whose cause he had almost lost a son), Willie, his heir, was a nationalist who identified himself with its victims. He was everything the father was not: liberal, a Home-Ruler, pro-Boer.


Willie wanted to become Irish in a decolonised Ireland, to naturalise himself, as if his real nature could never be satisfactorily expressed until he did. To this end, in his early twenties he had adopted Gaelic dress – saffron cloak, green stockings, belt with large silver buckles and kilt, in the sporran of which, it was rumoured, he housed a tortoise. He wore his hair long to his shoulders, like a tribal chief of ancient lore. (Yeats, in London, wore the black cloak of a professional Celt, leading the satirist George Moore to quip that he looked like an umbrella left behind after a picnic). After meeting him for the first time, one acquaintance wrote: ‘[He is] a half hatched philosopher & saint who … has the eyes of a Melanchthon but the mouth & wit of a Paddy … He has the worst clothes of any philosopher I’ve met.’


Willie’s chosen language, even for private prayer, was Gaelic – ‘It is one of the chief trials of my life’, he once said, ‘to be called on to speak English.’ George Bernard Shaw, on the other hand, liked to boast that, ‘being an Irishman’, he couldn’t speak Gaelic, which he dismissed as one of the many ‘Nationalist inventions [which] are not Irish at all’. Shaw enjoyed pointing out that the Gaelic League, which promoted the revival of an ‘indomitable Irishry’, was founded in London by Irishmen (including Willie) who had chosen emigration – hence ‘Wild Geese’ – over the scandals and low politics which convulsed their country. This was true. Willie’s first marital home was near Dorking, Surrey, where he cut a strange figure striding across the fields in his kilt, or teeing off at the local golf course. But Ireland’s pull was irresistible: the Wild Geese returned, either in person or in their imaginations, time and time again. Exile, for them, was the nursery of nationality – Oscar Wilde’s years as a student in Oxford strengthened his conviction that an Irishman only discovers himself when he goes abroad. At home he ‘had but learnt the pathetic weakness of nationality, but in a strange land realised what indomitable forces nationality possesses’. W. B. Yeats, who followed Wilde and Shaw to London in the 1880s, rapidly became depressed at how self-conscious Celts there were turned into mere entertainers, so he returned to Dublin and worked to shift the centre of gravity of Irish culture back to the native capital.


The Abbey Theatre (1904), the Gaelic League (1893), the Irish Literary Society (1891) and the Gaelic Athletic Association (1884): these were the constituent parts of the Irish Risorgimento, the ‘return to the source’ which sought to make Ireland once again interesting to the Irish. Shaw might dismiss the Gaelic League as a kind of stage Irish invention, where Irishness was idealised as barefoot children and turf fires, but it was arguably modern Ireland’s first mass democratic organisation, dedicating itself not only to reviving the Irish language, but to workers’ education (it was responsible for organising the first great industrial parades held on St Patrick’s Day) and gender equality (the small but influential Irish feminist movement used Gaelicist channels). There were only six books in print in Irish at the founding of the Gaelic League, and most Irish speakers in the countryside were still illiterate. In just one year, the League sold fifty thousand textbooks and registered thousands in language classes. By 1904, its membership much boosted by the nationalist tide brought on by the Boer War, it had become a crucible for ideas about a culturally and politically revived Ireland, where national pride and economic prosperity could be recovered. Attending its meetings were Michael Collins, a post-office clerk who became one of the most lethal guerrilla commanders of the new century; Desmond FitzGerald, 1916 rebel and minister of the first Free State Government; Pádraic Ó Conaire, author of the first novel in the Irish language; Erskine Childers, Anglo-Irish author of The Riddle of the Sands who later ran arms for nationalist revolutionaries; and Willie Gibson, son of the Lord Chancellor of Ireland.


There were women, too. Constance Markiewicz, née Gore-Booth, with her sister Eva one of Yeats’s ‘two girls in silk kimonos’ dreaming of ‘some vague Utopia’. Markiewicz, a countess by marriage, was a Sinn Féiner who later took part in the 1916 Easter Rising, for which she earned a death sentence (commuted because of her sex). And Maud Gonne, Yeats’s impossible love, who shuttled between London, Paris and Dublin – a dislocated, peripatetic, unstable existence. But her deep belief in self-sacrifice for the cause tied her inexorably to Ireland, as did her unwavering identification with ‘the people’ (her idea of which was based, as with many upper-class rebels, on memories of servants who had been kind to her). Gonne’s antics earned her the derision of many of her class, to whom she exemplified a sort of trahison des débutantes. ‘A great red-haired yahoo of a woman’, they called her – unfairly, for she was well-bred and beautiful. But this was the price she paid for scorning the expectations of her class and sex.


Others travelled in different dimensions. At thirty, Florence Nightingale’s Cassandra realises that her passion, intellect, and moral energy have been destroyed by




 … the petty obligations, genteel rituals, and religious cant of a mindless social code. Inspired by a divine vision, she tries to emulate the life of Christ, to become the saviour whose suffering will awaken other women from their thrall. But society calls her mad and will not listen to her prophecies, and she dies unregarded.





Violet, a beautiful if fragile debutante, raised to be little more than an ornament, had already taken the first steps in this direction.



















V


The New Mystics





On 1 February 1866, an American woman slipped and fell on an icy pavement in New Hampshire. Her name was Mary Baker Eddy, and she was to identify this event as the inauguration of Christian Science. Eddy, who was forty-five, claimed to have nearly died as a result of the fall – a claim strongly disputed in testimony from her attending physician – and to have been miraculously restored to life when ‘the healing Truth dawned upon [her] senses’. Up to this point, Eddy, who had been chronically ill all her life, had been terribly misled as to the nature of physical illness. The truth that struck her on the icy pavement was that illness didn’t actually exist: sickness, death, and even the body were only imagined. It was a ‘scientific certainty that all causation rests with the Mind, and that every effect is a mental phenomena [sic]’.


Eddy claimed to have the power of healing, called Divine Science, though she never provided any tangible proof of it. But the idea that illness was an illusion that could be dispelled by mental adjustment and discipline in the form of daily prayer and exercise was a compelling incentive for many, especially women whose chief experience of life was one of lassitude, of lying about with folded hands, cosseting their listless or recalcitrant bodies. Craving a source of inner strength, many found it in Eddy’s seminal work, Science and Health. ‘I read the first chapter on Prayer. It was just like the conversion of St Paul,’ recalled the Protestant Nancy Astor, who after years of ill health and ‘nervous disorders’ underwent a Damascene revelation. ‘Here I found the answer to all my questions … If I was spiritual I would not have to suffer in the flesh, I learned. It was like a new beginning for me. My life really was made over.’ Nancy took to taking cold baths in the morning and standing on her head, and the regimen seemed to work, her nervous afflictions relegated to the past. Visitors to Cliveden did not escape her missionary zeal. Bibles would turn up on the arms of their chairs, innocently marked with passages thought relevant to Mrs Eddy’s doctrines. Her children were subjected to a process of ‘intense religious indoctrination’, though in the end it proved counter productive, largely owing to the intransigence of its advocate. Her son, Michael, agreed with Mark Twain’s judgement that it was all ‘Eddygush’. Yes. But by the 1910s, the Christian Science Church had made Mrs Eddy – dubbed ‘the monumental hysteric’ – the richest woman in America, and boasted over a million members. Violet’s mother, Lady Ashbourne, became an ardent follower, perhaps drawn like so many others by the promise of physical, as well as spiritual, wellbeing. In the photograph taken at Howth Castle in 1897, when she was thirty-eight, Lady Ashbourne appears strong – but domestic life had apparently drained her health (or her will), as hints a letter written by Elsie to Violet many years later: ‘I think she was fond of all of us, but there were so many and she wasn’t very strong.’ The peculiar mélange of Protestantism and Christian Science was accommodated in the Ashbourne household without strain. One newspaper described Lady Ashbourne as ‘an earnest Christian Scientist’ whose ‘house is the meeting place of many of the Irish adherents of that cult’.


Merrion Square was a rich setting for such activity, just as Cliveden was. Frances, the hockey-playing daughter, was also a member and worked for a time as the Dublin correspondent of the Christian Science Monitor. Violet, with her depressing résumé of maladies, seemed an ideal recruit. But she didn’t like it. The much-vaunted health benefits didn’t materialise for her, and she found the whole atmosphere surrounding Christian Science insufferable. In this, her experience echoed that of Michael Astor. His memories of the Cliveden of his childhood were of ‘a place of lyrical beauty’. But behind ‘its brilliant social façade’ he came to see another world, one of ‘moral abjuration’, a world ‘united uneasily by the voice of parental authority’, ‘increasingly stultifying’, from which he was ‘determined to escape’. For Violet, Merrion Square became just such a place – queasy with frustration and enclosure, crowded with family and cultists. No room to move, just somewhere to move from. She came to loathe Christian Science as a ‘a small body of utterly unscrupulous liars’ who deserved to be ‘swept off the face of the earth’. In time, she would remove herself from her family in order to get away from it.




*





Violet’s flight from Mary Baker Eddy’s cult took her towards another spiritual leader: Helena Blavatsky, the charismatic founder of Theosophy. Blavatsky was a compulsive confuser of fact with fiction, whose imaginative outline of her life included claims to have ridden bareback in the circus, toured Serbia as a concert pianist, opened an ink factory in Odessa, worked as an interior decorator for Empress Eugénie, and fought with Garibaldi’s army in the Battle of Mentana. But the central event of her Wanderjahre was a meeting with a dematerialising Tibetan called Master Morya. It was this encounter that alerted Blavatsky to the existence of the ‘Secret Doctrine’ – the key to the truth of life itself. Who better to mediate this wisdom to the world than Blavatsky herself? Hastily synthesising oriental religion, reincarnation, Western magic, Asian scripture and Rosicrucian, Masonic and Templar mythology, in 1875 she came up with Theosophy, an amalgam of rubbish wrapped up as an appealing obscurity. Its followers were ambitiously charged with the duty of collecting and diffusing ‘knowledge of the laws which govern the universe’. The history of organised occultism in the West was born.


Realists, Oscar Wilde once complained, ‘have sold our birthright for a mess of facts’. The attraction of a mystical – or magical – consciousness for people seeking relief from the oppression of mere facts supplied Theosophy with a rich recruiting ground. The London Theosophical Society included many upper-class neophytes, among them Lady Emily Lutyens (wife of architect Edwin Lutyens), and the Countess of Caithness, who lived in a palace in Nice and dressed like Mary Queen of Scots, of whom she claimed to be the reincarnation. Anna Kingsford, president of Theosophy’s London Lodge, was visited by Joan of Arc, the Virgin Mary, Anne Boleyn, and Swedenborg’s wraith, who mentioned in passing that Jesus had revived Confucianism. Kingsford also had visions that came to her in trances or dreams. Sometimes she saw her own inner organs – a useful aid in diagnosing her illnesses (she had many, both organic and psychosomatic).


Helena Blavatsky settled in London’s Holland Park in spring 1887, and there received a stream of distinguished guests, including W. B. Yeats, who took the revival of eastern wisdom very seriously and investigated a wide range of esoteric ‘sciences’ including cheirosophy (palmistry), celestial dynamics (astrology), chromopathy (healing by colours) and polygraphics (a form of automatic writing). Yeats’s interest ‘in life and its shadow’, his rejection of empirical ‘realities’ in favour of ‘truth’ was wryly commented on by Virginia Woolf: ‘Neither religion nor science explains the world. The occult does explain it. Has seen things. His coat hanger advanced across the room one night. Then a coat on it, illuminated; then a hand in it.’ In 1890, he was asked to resign from the Theosophical Society after he organised a committee to raise the ghost of a flower from its ashes, an experiment deemed to be disruptive. He transferred his loyalty to a magical fraternity called the Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn (of which Bram Stoker, a strong believer in the occult, was rumoured to be a member).




*





Fin de siècle, mal du siècle. Charles Darwin didn’t invent doubt, but he certainly accelerated it, amplified its possibilities. His theories made impossible demands on a Christian belief system that held the world to have been created in six days. If God was leaving by the front door, moony-eyed Madame Blavatsky was rustling in through the back, promising to convert doubt into expectation. Much of her drawing-power rested on the sensational inducements of claims to occult communion with the Great White Brotherhood of Masters. (When asked how he was able to forecast turns in the price of stocks, the railway tycoon Cornelius Vanderbilt famously answered: ‘Do as I do. Consult the spirits!’) With its almost limitless claims to be the touchstone for the hidden phenomena of life, Theosophy readily serviced the suggestible, the hysterical, the unhinged. But it is also true that not all its adherents fit this stereotype. Many embraced the first object of its statement of purpose, the concrete aim of building a universal brotherhood ‘without distinction of race, creed, sex, caste or colour’. It was a daring concept, one that intersected with contemporary radical thought. Feminists rallied to it as the one ‘religion’ that between the 1890s and 1920s consistently advocated equality of the sexes; and socialists and Fabians were happily pressed into its campaign against materialism (in The Key to Theosophy, Madame Blavatsky described Jesus and the Buddha as ‘preaching most unmistakably Socialism of the noblest and highest type, self-sacrifice to the bitter end’).


In this, Theosophy, more than Christian Science’s cult of self-absorption, answered to Violet’s longings, to her philosophical and political consciousness that, owing much to Willie’s influence, was taking shape as a form of ethical socialism. Still held, if only by a thread of filial obedience, to both Protestantism and Christian Science, as soon as she turned twenty-one she embarked on a series of journeys to the Theosophical Society’s ‘lodges’ in Switzerland, Germany and France. Helena Blavatsky had outlined the foundations of a New Jerusalem, and Violet wanted to be part of it.



















VI


La Femme Qui Cherche





Theosophy established itself as a significant and enduring presence in Violet’s psyche. But she never fully embraced it. Intellectually and emotionally, she was still reaching for something that lay beyond her grasp. She left no record of her travels in this period, of her discoveries and disappointments. We peer into a room and search for her. Here? No, not here. She has already passed through, leaving only the lightest impression of her presence. ‘Here is one room: there another.’ That is the mystery.


And then she reappears. On 28 July 1902, buried deep in a lengthy column in The Times titled ‘Ecclesiastical Intelligence’, is the announcement that Violet Gibson had become a Catholic. She was twenty-six. Thereafter – and as a direct consequence of this decision – her appearances in the society columns of The Times would be few. Indeed, until she shot Mussolini in 1926, there was to be very little about her that was deemed worth mentioning (in contrast to her sisters, Frances, Elsie and Constance, who continued to flower as society fixtures).
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